
1carersnsw.org.au

Carers NSW Inc. 
Annual Report 
2013-14



2 | Carers NSW Inc. Annual Report 2013-14

IN MEMORY OF  
CHANTÉ WAMBU 

(aka The Pirate Princess) 

10.03.2003 - 27.05.2014

“My precious, beautiful girl. You showed us all what love really means, what bravery really 

is. Bossy as hell, super smart, kind, with a wicked sense of humour, you never let the fact 

that you couldn’t speak get in your way – or any of your myriad disabilities either, for that 

matter. Every surgery, every infection, every frequent, painful hospital stay ended with that 

flip top head grin. You pushed barriers and wrought miracles on a daily basis like it was 

nothing. You showed us all up with our petty little complaints and insignificant worries. 

Thank you for the endless cuddles and laughs. Thank you for opening our hearts. To all of 

us who were blessed enough to know you, you are, and will always remain, an angel. 

Chanté was born on 10 March 2003 with a unique spectrum of disabilities unseen by the 

medical fraternity before. She was blind, had cerebral palsy, epilepsy, severe sleep apnoea, 

with global developmental delay and respiratory, heart, kidney, bladder, digestive and other 

internal organ abnormalies. She had upwards of 17 surgeries, 8 of them corrective, the 

others investigative. She was hospitalised hundreds of times with painful, life threatening 

kidney infections. Due to cerebral palsy, her left hip dislocated in 2011. Chanté died from 

respiratory difficulties at Sydney Childrens Hospital 27 May 2014.”

By Tansy Mayhew

Chanté was supported throughout by her devoted mother and carer, Tansy Mayhew, 
who has inspired countless others with her love and dedication. Tansy seized every 
opportunity to raise awareness of carers and support others by sharing her story through 
the media and Carers NSW. Tansy is also an extraordinary singer and her performances 
are a highlight of the annual Carers Day Out events in Sydney. 

Our cover features Tansy and her daughter Chanté
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INTRODUCTION

ABOUT CARERS NSW 

Carers NSW represents and supports carers in New South Wales. It was the first carers association of its 
kind in Australia and has been operating across the state for over 30 years. Today, Carers NSW is the only 
state-wide organisation that has all carers as its primary focus. It is part of a national Network of Carers 
Associations and works collaboratively to lead change and action for carers. Carers NSW operates as a 
non-profit and apolitical organisation which is governed by a volunteer Board of Directors. 

Carers provide informal care and support to family members or friends who have a disability, mental 
illness, drug or alcohol dependency, chronic condition, terminal illness or who are frail. There are 
approximately 850,000 carers across New South Wales which equates to 12% of the state’s population. 

Carers NSW provides a range of programs and services to support carers from all walks of life, age groups 
and cultural backgrounds. 

4 | Carers NSW Inc. Annual Report 2013-14



5

VALUES

Carers NSW operates with a set of values that 
underpin our interactions and activities with 
stakeholders.

CARER FOCUSED

Actively listen to and involve carers. Their views 
and experiences guide our policies, advocacy 
and services. Focus on actions that will result 
in practical improvements to the lives of carers 
throughout NSW.

RIGHTS AND RESPECT

Respect the rights of carers and the people they 
support to make choices and direct their own lives. 
Respect the privacy of individuals and implement 
measures to protect confidentiality.

CULTURALLY APPROPRIATE

Value diversity in our communities, and respect 
differences between carers and the people they 
care for. Adopt inclusive strategies that cater for 
carers at different life stages and circumstances,  
as well as age, gender and sexual orientation.

Be culturally appropriate and sensitive to the wishes 
of carers from diverse backgrounds, including those 
from different cultural, language, ethnic, and religious 
backgrounds.

Respect and value the culture and heritage 
of Aboriginal people in NSW. Be culturally 
inclusive and support self-determination for and 
reconciliation with Aboriginal people.

PROFESSIONAL AND OUTCOME ORIENTED

Focus on quality, professionalism and accountability 
in all our activities and ensure our policies, 
processes and services reflect these values.

Use research and evidence to improve choice and 
outcomes to carers and be open to change and 
innovation.

Value collaboration with internal and external 
colleagues and support all parties to achieve 
Carers NSW goals and responsibilities.

VISION

All carers in NSW are recognised, valued and 
supported by the community and by governments. 

CORE BUSINESS AND ROLES

To address our goals and outcomes, Carers NSW 
will:

•  Provide leadership and systemic advocacy for 
carers in NSW

•  Consult with carers, foster research, and collect 
and analyse data to build the evidence base on 
which carer issues can be progressed

•  Provide information, referrals, emotional support, 
and counselling to carers, appropriate to their 
specific needs and circumstances

•  Develop submissions and provide strategic input 
into key reforms that impact on carers

•  Distribute information, resources and 
publications to carers and other stakeholders

•  Promote and provide carer education and 
training for carers, service providers, health 
professionals, employers and other stakeholders

•  Provide advice and build the capacity of 
organisations, businesses and service providers 
to assist them to become more carer focused

•  Build partnerships and alliances with 
stakeholders and so establish new approaches 
to advocate for and better support carers across 
NSW

•  Promote carer issues through events, the media 
and other public activities

•  Administer an efficient and effective organisation 
with a regional capacity.
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While we have ensured usual business has not only been 
maintained but also strengthened during this reporting period, 
change in Federal and State Government policy and service 
delivery relating to carers, and the people for whom they care, 
has meant your Board has been very focused in its strategic 
planning for the future. We are preparing as best we can for the 
uncertainties ahead: the National Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS) and its impact on carers; consumer directed care; the 
ending of government funding for some services to carers; and 
uncertainty as to what might replace those services.  

Our goal is that supports and services for carers, while they 
may be different, can continue and grow, and that the carer 
voice is not lost during the period of change we have ahead of 
us. We are guided, as always, in our thinking and planning by 
the question ‘How does this support carers?’

The Board is confident our organisation is well positioned to meet the reform challenges we will be facing 
in coming years.

In addition to Carers NSW member Trish McClure, who was elected in November, Bruce Howle, Lynette 
Nixon and Gary Stanford were co-opted to the Board to help us with our strategic planning and financial 
management going into the future. All have extensive strategic and business experience.

While strategic planning has always been a core responsibility of the Board, a Strategic Planning Working 
Group, reporting to the Board, was established so our strategic planning processes will ensure we are 
ready to address those reform challenges in the carer, disability, mental health, and aged care sectors. 
The Strategic Planning Working Group, working with the Finance Committee, considers and recommends 
to the Board financially responsible and viable strategies we will need in this new environment. 
Assistance in strategic planning from KPMG has been useful, as has a thorough risk audit and revised risk 
strategy for the organisation under the guidance of the Risk Committee.

Board members have sat on Ministerial, government and community advisory and consulting bodies this 
past year. Together with staff, Board members made a valuable contribution to the NSW Government’s 
Carer Strategy.

6 | Carers NSW Inc. Annual Report 2013-14

PRESIDENT’S REPORT 



7

Ongoing Board education throughout the period has ensured Board members skills in governance are 
up to date. Completion of the Australian Institute of Company Directors’ course and examination, or 
willingness to complete, is now a desired Board member qualification.

Carers NSW has continued, during this reporting period, to work with the other state and territory Carers 
Associations to raise the profile of carers, reach out to more carers across the nation, seek greater 
operational efficiencies and a more co-ordinated response to the changes ahead.

Our organisation continues to be very strong financially and I refer you to our Financial Report in 
these pages. I thank the Treasurer, Stephen Bowles, and his Finance Committee for their oversight and 
guidance in financial matters.

I thank all Board members, those who retired during this reporting period: Dulcie Flower, Jim Warren, 
Christina Aggar, David Carter, and those who joined us in 2014, all of whom have worked throughout this 
period with energy and commitment to maintain the vision of Carers NSW and to carry that vision into the 
future.

Our staff, under the CEO, Elena Katrakis, have embraced new opportunities this past financial year, and 
have grown both our face-to-face rural and regional reach to carers and our digital reach to all carers in 
the state. I urge you to follow us on Twitter, Facebook, eBulletin and of course our website. 

Our volunteers continue to ensure our mailouts, information packs and other vital administration tasks 
serve carers well. The Board thanks all staff and volunteers for their commitment to carers and Carers 
NSW.

The Board looks forward to another year of strengthening Carers NSW and serving carers.

Laraine Toms  
President



2013-14 has been a year marked by anticipation, new ways of 
working, different approaches, and outreach to more carers 
across NSW. This report reflects Carers NSW achievements, 
journey and approach over the past 12 months. 

The landscape in which we operate as an organisation is 
currently under constant change and reform which has been 
occurring for some time. This has continued to create a 
strong environment of anticipation for carers, our valued staff, 
and the sector generally. Anticipation about where carers, 
and importantly where carer support, will fit into the future, 
particularly in a person-centred, consumer-directed world 
focusing on choice and control and driven by individualised 
funding.

These reforms aim to improve the quantity and quality of 
support for older people and people with disability and it is 

anticipated that this will lead to an improved life for many carers because of the improvement in supports 
and services for the person for whom they care. However there is still much to be done and as this work 
is underway, its impact on our business, our staff and our current and future contracts is great.

It can be a challenge to plan and retain a valuable and committed workforce in the context of change and 
often uncertainty. To support our staff, our greatest resource, Carers NSW this year held our annual staff 
conference in February 2014 in Newcastle. This year’s theme of Diversity enabled us to look at our work, 
carers, and our organisations through a different lens to make sure that we are ready for all aspects of 
caring and care into the future. 

We also invested in listening to our staff and undertook a comprehensive employee survey through the 
Voice Project. The survey told us that our key strengths are the overall passion of our staff, and that our 
staff are predominantly engaged and perceive Carers NSW as performing well and achieving its goals. 
Specifically, they report that they are aware of, and support, the organisation’s purpose, values and 
direction. Staff were also highly satisfied with their co-workers which is reflective of the team environment 
we have created. It also told us that we need to work better at providing career and participation 
opportunities for staff.

CEO’S REPORT
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All of this we have been taking on board in our planning, work, and progression.

We have looked at different opportunities to reach carers across NSW and have held events in different 
locations to support this which have been well attended and well received.

On a state level, the NSW Government released the whole-of-government NSW Carers Strategy 2014-
19 which aims to improve recognition and support for carers over the next five years. This government 
commitment to carers, which builds new partnerships with private organisations as well as strengthening 
those with government and non-government agencies, presents some opportunities for Carers NSW. 
As a key partner in the development of the NSW Carers Strategy throughout 2013-14, Carers NSW will 
continue its work to influence the delivery of better supports and services for carers throughout its 
implementation over future years.

I look forward to the next 12 months on the journey to new ways of working, new partnerships and 
relationships, to continue to support and reach all carers across NSW.

 

Elena Katrakis 
CEO
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Laraine Toms 
MA BA Dip Ed Churchill Fellow 
President  
Member of the Finance Committee, 

Risk Committee and Strategy 

Working Group

Laraine is a carer and active community advocate in 
health and welfare services. She has a background 
in education and business, has Bachelor and Master 
of Arts degrees, a Diploma in Education and is a 
Churchill Fellow, her research being international 
carer advocacy. Laraine is currently a member of 
the NSW Health Ministerial Advisory Committee and 
Board member of the Inner West Sydney Medicare 
Local. She has served on a number of Ministerial and 
government advisory committees. Laraine has been 
a Board member of Carers NSW for 13 years and 
President for seven.

Josephine Maxwell 
BA LLB (Sydney), MLLR (Sydney) 
GAICD
Vice President, Chair of the Risk 

Committee and Member of the 

Strategy Working Group 

A senior executive and senior legal counsel whose 
expertise includes human relations management, 
commercial contracting, commercial litigation, 
compliance, employment law, ethics and governance 
across private practice, the Commonwealth 
Government and most recently the private sector.  
Past roles have included HR-Director of the Special 
Broadcasting Service, President of Women in the 
Community Bankstown, Co-Artistic Director of the 
Women in Arts Festival Bankstown, Councillor and 
Deputy Mayor of Concord Municipal Council, Secretary 
of the NSW Local Government Women’s Association, 
Lead Legal Counsel for Accenture Australia and the 
Asia Pacific Director of Employment Law for Accenture.  

Josephine is a Founding Member of Emily’s List and 
a Life Member of the Jessie Street National Women’s 
Library.  Current roles include the Vice President of the 
MLC School Burwood Foundation and Director of the 
Women’s Club.  Josephine cared for both her mother 
in law and her mother which has led to her advocacy 
for carers as well as for the frail aged and terminally ill. 
Josephine has been a co-opted Board member since 
2011 and an elected member since 2012.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the strategic and policy directions of Carers NSW to ensure the 
organisation achieves its aims for carers. It reviews standards, policies and procedures in accordance with 
the constitution, and is financially and legally accountable for the use of funds.

As of 30 June 2014, there are 11 Board members, including four office bearers, and three co-opted 
members. The Board operates a Finance Committee and time-limited working groups on specific issues as 
required.  
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Stephen Bowles 
B Com CA
Honorary Treasurer 

Chair of the Finance Committee, 

Member of the Risk Committee 

 

 

Stephen is a chartered accountant. He had a 35 year 
career with PricewaterhouseCoopers including 21 
years as a partner, working in senior roles as Chief 
Financial Officer and in assurance and corporate 
advisory services. He has worked with not-for-profit 
organisations in audit, consultant and committee 
roles. He is currently Chief Operating Officer of a 
growing Sydney accounting firm. Stephen joined 
the Board of Carers NSW as a co-opted member in 
August 2009. Stephen was appointed as Honorary 
Treasurer in November 2013, and previously held 
the position of Vice President from July 2013 – 
November 2013.

Michele Ferris 
Dip Bus Management, Cert IV Aged 
Care, studying Dementia Care
Honorary Secretary  

 

Michele joined the Board of Carers NSW in November 
2012 and was appointed Honorary Secretary in 
November 2013. Michele is a current carer whose 
teenage son lives with intellectual disability and vision 
impairment and is now a carer/advocate for her 
mother who lives with Alzheimer’s disease. Michele 
has a work background in aged care and disability 
service provision for a decade. She has a strong 
passion for advocacy rights for those in aged care 
and disability.

Felicity Purdy  
BA (Hons) Psychology
Carers NSW nominee to the Carers 

Australia Board

Member of the Finance Committee  

Felicity Purdy is a former carer, and has worked with 
children and adults with disabilities, their families and 
services for more than 40 years. She is a life member 
of National Disability Services and holds a number 
of voluntary and advisory positions concerned with 
health and severe disability. She has been a member 
of the Carers NSW Board for 17 years and has served 
as Secretary and Vice President. 

Jenine Bradburn 
Cert IV Training & Assessing, Dip 
Bus Management, Dip Dental 
Technology, AdvDip Dental 
Prosthetics 

Jenine Bradburn is a Dental Prosthetist and has been 
politically active within her profession for the last 
fifteen years. Jenine, aside from caring for her ageing 
mother, also cares for her step-father with Alzheimer’s 
and an aunt who has had a disability since childhood. 
Her specific interest is in aged care. Jenine joined the 
Board of Carers NSW in November 2012.
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Bruce Howle 
BEc, CA
Member of the Finance Committee, 

Risk Committee and Strategy 

Working Group 

Bruce joined the Board of Carers NSW in 2014 as 
a co-opted member. He is the Managing Principal 
at KSG with a career in accounting, taxation and 
assurance spanning a period of more than 25 years. 
Bruce is a registered tax agent, registered company 
auditor and registered SMSF auditor, advising on 
all matters financial to the SME market, not-for-
profit organisations and financial service providers. 
Bruce has a Bachelor of Economics from Macquarie 
University, and is a member of The Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Australia and the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. He has been actively 
involved in the governance of a number of local 
community organisations in various capacities 
including Treasurer. 

Trish McClure 
BCom (Ec and IR), Masters (Human 
Geog), PGrad Traffic Eng and Safety, 
IAPP Community and Stakeholder 
Engagement, Member of the 
Strategy Working Group  

 
Trish has over 15 years’ experience as a carer and 
understands well the challenges of meeting complex 
care needs as well as balancing family and work 
commitments. Trish has a strong focus on delivering 
quality of life outcomes and enhancing carer’s 
abilities to make choices to effectively plan for their 
futures and those they care for. Trish has a high 
level understanding of governance and government 
having worked in the public sector for over 25 
years delivering safe, accessible and amenable 
infrastructure and transport services across NSW.

Eileen McDonald 
M Counselling, Grad Dip DMT, BA 
Communications, Cert IV TAE
Member of the Risk Committee and 

Strategy Working Group 

Eileen McDonald is a carer for two family members. 
She is a family and carer consultant, trainer and 
facilitator of disability and mental health courses. 
Eileen is a Carers NSW Carer Representative, is on 
the Mental Health Australia National Register of 
Consumer and Carer Representatives, and is the NSW 
Carer Representative on the National Mental Health 
Consumer & Carer Forum as well as several state and 
national committees and advisory groups. 

Lynette Nixon 
M Com (UWS), MAICD,  
Chair of the Strategy Working 
Group and Member of the Risk 
Committee 

 
Lynette joined the Board in 2014 as a co-opted 
member. She has taken on a co-lead role of the 
Strategy Working Group and is a member of the 
Risk Committee. Her career has spanned two key 
roles – as a teacher for 20 years, Lynette focused 
on boys’ education and closer connections between 
schools and business. She was a participating 
member of the Joint Schools Tafe program and was 
also involved in some major curriculum development 
in NSW. For the past 16 years Lynette has worked at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, with her primary focus in 
innovation and human centred design. This sees her 
working with both corporates and not-for-profits with 
a particular focus on collaboration and inclusiveness.
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Jim Warren 
FCA, FCPA, FAICD, FAIM

Jim Warren was born in Fiji, 
educated in New Zealand and 
spent his entire working career, 
including 25 years as a partner, 

with PricewaterhouseCoopers. During over 42 years 
with the firm Jim lived and worked in four countries 
and undertook assignments in more than 20 others. 
He has considerable experience as an auditor and 
consultant to not-for-profit organisations including the 
YMCA, Bible Society of Australia and Care Australia. 
Jim has served on the Boards of the Australian 
Institute of Management and Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and is currently on the Boards 
of The Royal Automobile Club of Australia, Darling 
House Aged Care Association Inc, where he is 
Chairman, and the Walsh Bay Precinct Association 
where he is President. Jim joined the Board of Carers 
NSW as a co-opted member in November 2006. He 
was appointed Treasurer in 2007 and was the Chair 
of the Finance Committee. Jim stood down from the 
Board in November 2013.

Christina Aggar 
RN BN (Hons) PhD

Christina Aggar is a former carer 
with a nursing background spanning 
26 years. During the past six years 
Christina has pursued her interest 

in carers through research. She has a special interest 
in aged care and those family members and friends 
who support older people to remain independent 
in the community. Currently, Christina is a lecturer 
at the Sydney Nursing School, University of Sydney. 
Christina resigned from the Board in December 2013.

Dulcie Flower 
RN Hon Member NSW College of 
Nursing RN OAM

Dulcie Flower is a Torres Strait 
Islander who joined the Board of 
Carers NSW as a co-opted member 

in November 2005 and resigned in December 
2013. A former registered nurse and educator, 
Dulcie worked in Aboriginal health for many years. 
She was also a carer for her mother. Dulcie has 
represented Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders on 
many committees and advisory groups, including the 
Ministerial Advisory Committee and National Diabetes 
Strategies Group. In 2004 she was elected to the 
Board of Directors of the Aboriginal Medical Service 
Co-op Ltd Redfern. 

David Carter 
BA (Phil), LLB (Hons)

David Carter joined the Board of 
Carers NSW in November 2011 
and resigned in December 2013. 
He held the position of Honorary 

Secretary from July 2013 – November 2013 and 
was a Member of the Risk Committee. David has an 
intellectually disabled brother and has worked as a 
disability support worker. David holds a Bachelor of 
Law and Arts and works as a solicitor, formerly at 
Allens Arthur Robinson and currently at Carters Law 
Firm.  

Gary Stanford 
 
Gary joined the Board as a co-opted Member in 
February 2014. He resigned in August 2014.



NATIONAL SERVICES 
AND PROGRAMS
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CARER SUPPORT AND REFERRAL

The Carers NSW Carer Line provides specialist information, emotional support and referral to other forms 
of assistance through the national number, 1800 242 636. During 2013-2014, the NSW service managed 
30,436 individual contacts, 20,564 of which were unique, incoming enquiries. The majority of contacts were 
from carers (63%) and service providers (8%). 

Almost 4,000 individual carers contacted Carers NSW through the Carer Line in 2013-2014. Fifty-three 
percent (53%) of these carers contacted the Carer Line more than once in the past year. Almost 31,000 
referrals were made to the National Carer Counselling Program, Centrelink, Commonwealth Respite and 
Carelink Centres and other NSW services to support carers in their caring role. Carer Support Officers made 
1,114 guided referrals for carers and other people who required additional support.

In addition to the phone support and referrals, over 46,000 information products were distributed to carers 
and service providers across the state. 

These national services continue to be provided through the Carers NSW regional offices in Dubbo, Coffs 
Harbour and Tweed Heads.
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SOUTHERN HIGHLANDS OUTREACH

Carers NSW strengthened its presence in 
southern NSW between July 2013 and May 
2014 by co-locating a part-time worker with 
Carers ACT in a newly opened office in the far 
south coast town of Moruya. The office was 
established in partnership with Carers ACT who 
were engaged to administer the Commonwealth 
Respite and Carelink Centre in the region. In 
the ten months the office was operational, 
Carers NSW engaged in extensive outreach in 
the region, travelling across the Southern and 
Southern Highlands regions of regional NSW to 
raise awareness of Carers NSW and its services. 
The success of this endeavour was reflected in 
the increase in contact from carers and service 
providers in the region through the Carer Line. 
Compared to the same period in 2012-13, the 
Carers NSW Carer Line saw a 153% increase in 
new customers, 76% increase in carers, 242% 
increase in young carers and a 259% increase in 
service providers from this region.

NATIONAL CARER COUNSELLING 
PROGRAM

The National Carer Counselling Program 
(NCCP) provides short term counselling through 
professionally qualified counsellors, with a focus on 
improving the wellbeing and resilience of carers. 
Counselling is provided on an individual, family or 
therapeutic group basis, and is delivered either face-
to-face, on the internet or over the phone. 

In 2013-2014, the NCCP delivered 11% more 
counselling sessions than in the previous year to 
14% more carers. 1,479 carers benefited from 
5,099 counselling sessions; 92% of which were 
one-on-one with individual carers. Over 82% of 
these counselling sessions were provided by the 
approximately 150 counsellors that Carers NSW 
brokers to across NSW. 

Carers accessed counselling to address issues of 
stress, anxiety and depression associated with their 
caring role. The main reason counselling support 
was sought was due to a negative change in the 
carers’ health or a negative change in the health 
of the person they care for. The majority of carers 
who received counselling through NCCP referred 
themselves directly or were referred by a Carers 
NSW Carer Support Officer.

546
Carer support groups across 
NSW received Carers NSW 
resources or information
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Of the 403 Carer Evaluations received post 
completion of counselling, 97% found accessing 
the NCCP easy, 90% felt less stressed because of 
counselling, 88% felt better able to cope with their 
caring situation and 85% reported that their overall 
wellbeing had improved. 

Thirty-four therapeutic groups were developed 
and delivered across NSW in 2013-2014 through 
face-to-face meetings as well as via the telephone 
group delivery model, Talk-Link. Groups were 
predominantly delivered by the Carers NSW in-
house counselling team and included; Carer 

Wellbeing Groups (face-to-face and via Talk-Link) for 
male carers, young carers, carers of someone with 
dementia, and carers of someone with a mental 
illness; as well as Creative Mindfulness Art Therapy 

for Carers, Journaling the Journey, and Grief and 

Loss for Former Carers. Carers NSW also partnered 
with Acquired Brain Injury NSW and the Family and 
Carer Mental Health Program to provide specific 
therapeutic support to family members and friends 
linked to those services. 

During the year, Carers NSW continued with its 
brokered counsellor engagement strategy. Twenty-
one new counsellors were engaged in regional 
areas that had been identified as gaps in the Carers 
NSW brokered counsellor network. The brokered 
counsellor eBulletin was upgraded and is currently 
distributed every three months. Two Carer Sensitivity 
Training sessions were held for the brokered 
counselling network. 

EXPANSION OF COUNSELLING 
SUPPORT TO CARERS

Carers NSW continues to provide counselling 
support to an increasing number of carers 
through the dual delivery of the National Carer 
Counselling Program and Mental Health Respite: 
Carer Support funded through the Department 
of Social Services (formerly the Department of 
Health and Ageing).

Significant effort has been put towards increasing 
counselling referrals as well as ensuring program 
delivery is both effective and working to capacity. 
These efforts are reflected in an 11% increase 
in counselling sessions delivered compared 
to 2012-13. When compared to 2010-11, 
counselling sessions delivered have increased 
141% and 108% more carers have been 
supported. 

BETTER START FOR CHILDREN WITH 
DISABILITY INITIATIVE 

In 2013-2014 the Better Start for Children with 
Disability initiative entered its third year of 
delivery. The initiative is designed to provide early 
intervention services for children with specific 
disabilities. The Better Start funding is not meant to 
cover the entire cost of early intervention services, 
but to improve eligible families’ access to early 
intervention support.

The eligible disabilities under Better Start in 2011 
were Down syndrome, Fragile X syndrome, cerebral 
palsy, moderate or greater vision or hearing 
impairments including deaf-blindness. 
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Their inclusion was based on evidence that intensive 
early intervention in the pre-school years is effective 
in preparing this cohort of children for the transition 
to school. In January 2013, eligibility was expanded 
to include nine new genetic disabilities. These are 
Prader Willi, Williams, Angelman, Kabuki, Smith-
Magenis, CHARGE, Cornelia de Lange or Cri du Chat 
syndromes, and microcephaly. In February 2014, 
Rett’s Disorder became an eligible diagnosis for 
funding and support under Better Start.

The Carers NSW Better Start team is responsible 
for assessing the eligibility of children, registering 
children for the funding and providing referrals 
to families and carers in NSW. At the end of the 
third year of operation, the Better Start team has 
successfully registered 2,831 children to the 
initiative but this only reflects a fraction of the 
support and information provided to families – 
eligible and ineligible – during this time. In 2013-
2014 over 1,124 families received some type 
of information or support, beyond registration, 
including nearly 88 families that were deemed 
ineligible. 

Cerebral palsy, hearing impairment and vision 
impairment are the disabilities with the highest 
representation in both the enquiries and successful 
registrations by the Better Start team. 

 
MOVING FORWARD WORKSHOPS

At the beginning of 2013-2014 Carers NSW was 
contracted by the (former) Department of Families 
and Community Services and Indigenous Affairs 
(FaHCSIA), via Carers Australia, to deliver 28 Better 
Start Moving Forward workshops across NSW 
before the end of June 2015. The workshop has 

been developed for parents and guardians whose 
child has been registered to Better Start and is 
now preparing for, or has recently entered, primary 
school. It is designed to inform and help parents and 
guardians as they support their child through this 
transition period.

The Moving Forward workshops are facilitated by the 
Better Start team and are delivered in an informal, 
flexible, and family-focused context. Topics such as 
self-care, advocacy, and how Better Start funding is 
being utilised are discussed. Additionally, as parents 
and carers are often overwhelmed by information 
and have difficulty navigating the disability 
landscape, speakers have been engaged from 
the Department of Education and Communities, 
the Department of Human Services and Medicare 
Locals to provide more detailed information on what 
specific supports are available. 

In 2013-2014, Carers NSW successfully delivered 16 
workshops and one webinar. Over 100 families were 
supported through the workshops so far and the 
feedback was encouragingly positive.

‘Great presentation, very engaging and resourceful’

‘Very helpful, I feel a bit better about the transition to 

school’

‘Covered a wide range of services for everyone, great 

to meet and see other parents and share our stories, 

and learning’
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YOUNG CARER PROGRAM

The Young Carer Program continued to support 
and connect young carers in 2013-2014 through its 
information, support and referral service, as well as 
through counselling, awareness raising workshops, 
leadership and media opportunities.

In 2013-14, 516 young carers were identified and 
registered to the Young Carer Program. This is 
approximately a 30% increase of registrations 
compared to 2012-13. The program continued to 

reach a wide audience of young carers, their families 
and service providers through program media 
including the YC website, YC E-News, Facebook and 
YC News. 

The Young Carer Program delivered 19 Supporting 

Young Carers presentations and workshops to 
approximately 300 teachers, school counsellors and 
service providers in 2013-2014. These workshops 
included the Through the Cracks and Behind the 

Behaviour activities developed by Carers NSW.

The Carers NSW Young Carer Leadership Program 
(YCLP) is designed to acknowledge and empower 
young people in a caring role. The program 
provides young carers with the skills, confidence 
and opportunities to publicly share their personal 
story for the purpose of identifying, acknowledging, 
and supporting other hidden young carers in the 
community. Since attending the Carers NSW YCLP, 
Young Carer Leaders have been supported by 
Carers NSW staff to share their story with local 
media, schools and services.

In 2013-2014, the program expanded to include 
young carers under the age of 16. Over 30 young 
carers from around NSW aged 12-15 years and 
16-22 years were selected and supported to 
attend a two-day workshop in Sydney. Facilitated 
by Aboriginal organisation Mirri Mirri, Young Carer 
Leaders shared their story of being a young carer 
with the group, learnt leadership skills and formed 
close bonds with other young carers.  

Journalists from Dolly Magazine and Triple J, shared 
their insights on how to communicate their caring 
stories effectively through different media platforms.

The feedback from the young carers who attended 
and their families was overwhelmingly positive. 

 “I had an amazing time it was one of the best 

experiences I ever had”

“The workshops were so fun and interesting and 

made me feel understood and like I wasn’t alone” 

“Everything was perfect.” 

YOUNG CARER LEADERSHIP PROGRAM



HESTA COMMUNITY SERVICES AWARD 

The Young Carer Leadership Program (YCLP) was 
recognised by the HESTA Community Sector  
Awards as one of five finalists in the Social Impact 
category for raising awareness of the role of young 
carers and improving support for them.  
 

19

YOUNG ENDEAVOUR

Each year Rothschild Australia sponsors one young 
carer to take part in an amazing adventure on the tall 
ship Young Endeavour. Sadie (19) who cares for her 
sister who has Sanfilippo Syndrome was selected 
to take part.  In August 2013, she set sail on the 
Young Endeavour with 23 other young Australians 
and a crew from The Royal Australian Navy. Over 
11 days Sadie had an opportunity to learn all about 
sailing a beautiful tall ship while learning invaluable 
leadership and life skills.  On Sadie’s return she 
delivered a moving presentation to the staff of 
Rothschild Australia, explaining how overcoming 
challenges on the Young Endeavour has impacted 
her caring role. 

“Some of the activities such as climbing the loft and 
jumping the rope swing are definitely things I never 
thought I would have considered doing…As scary 
as some of these tasks were, the outcome was 
positive and helped me discover more about myself 
as an individual and what I am capable of. This is the 
same with my caring role. As my sister’s disability 
progresses, so does my caring role. It means I have 
to be prepared for what may happen next but I 
always have to hope for a positive outcome”.



REGIONAL AND 
STATE-BASED PROGRAMS  

AND INITIATIVES

MENTAL HEALTH RESPITE: CARER SUPPORT

Mental Health Respite: Carer Support (MHR:CS) provides support to carers of someone with a mental 
illness in South East Sydney and the Hunter. MHR:CS was delivered by Carers NSW for the first time in  
2013-14 and is an Australian Government Initiative funded by the Department of Social Services. The 
program aims to assist carers of people with mental illness to sustain their caring roles and maintain 
connection with their communities, by increasing access to flexible, innovative carer support services.

The MHR:CS has provided a number of education and carer relief activities including Mental Health 
First Aid, Safetalk, young carer sports workshops, a carer cruise, and a Christmas in Winter luncheon for 
families affected by mental illness attended by over 100 people. A highlight was the community awareness 
raising event held in Newcastle in November and attended by carers and the general community. The 
event screened The Sunny Boy documentary, which details the experiences of living with mental illness of 
the Sunny Boys’ lead singer Jeremy Oxley and his family. Schizophrenia researcher Associate Professor 
Carmel Loughland from the University of Newcastle presented before the film. It was followed by a thought 
provoking question and answer session with the film’s director which drew out some valuable insights into 
caring.
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OLDER PARENT CARER PROGRAM

The Older Parent Carer (OPC) Support Coordination 
Program provides case management and support 
with a focus on future planning to older carers who 
are caring for adult children with disabilities. Carers 
NSW is funded to operate the program across three 
regions in NSW, South East Sydney, and Western 
NSW and on the mid North Coast. 

This year the program supported 216 carers through 
the provision of 7,125 hours of case management 
across the three regions.

Along with the core business activity of supporting 
older parent carers, the OPC program continued 
to seek out hidden older carers through program 
promotion and building partnerships with other key 
organisations. 

In Western NSW, the OPC team travelled great 
distances to support carers, sometimes even 
travelling six hours one way to isolated areas. This 
year, in both Western NSW and the mid North Coast, 
there has been continued increase in the number of 
networks established through interagency meetings 
and participation in promotion and information days.

FUTURE PLANNING LUNCHEON

The Carers NSW OPC program hosted a Future 
Planning Luncheon during Carers Week 2013. 
The luncheon, held in partnership with and 
funded through a grant from South East Sydney 
Local Health District (SESLHD) Carers Program, 
was attended by older parent carers in Sydney. 
It consisted of two speakers; one a solicitor 
speaking on estate planning with consideration 
of persons with disability and the other from 
the Guardianship Tribunal, speaking on issues 
associated with capacity and planning ahead for 
individuals with disability. 

The event was well received by all, raising 
awareness and strengthening the relationship 
between Carers NSW and the SESLHD carers 
program. 

Feedback from carers relating to this event and 
their overall experience with the OPC program 
includes: 

“Giving the right direction for accessing help” 

“Trying very hard to solve ongoing problems”

 “The people involved are really concerned about 

their clients and the client’s families. We have a 

great person attending to us and were informed 

of the things we need to know”
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LOOKING AFTER OURSELVES –  
OUR WAY WORKSHOP

This workshop was run in partnership with Wulla 
Mulla Community Centre in Woolloomooloo to 
target hidden older parent Aboriginal carers and 
funded through a City of Sydney grant. It resulted in 
an increase of referrals for Aboriginal carers to the 
program from 2% to 11% in the past six months. 

Feedback from carers who attended this event 
includes:

“I enjoyed the workshop very much. It opened my 

mind and spirit greatly” 

“Excellent facilitator…would like to attend more 

workshops with a great facilitator like Caryn” 

THE ANNUAL OLDER PARENT CARER 
STATE FORUM

The Annual Older Parent Carer State Forum is 
another promotional initiative hosted by Carers 
NSW for ten OPC providers across the state. It 
was a great opportunity to hear experiences and 
share best practice with other program providers, 
particularly the provider in the NDIS launch site 
of the Hunter. The Forum provided a platform to 

gather information and develop strategies to inform 
practice in supporting older parent carers into the 
future.

Feedback from service providers who attended this 
event includes:

“Very informative at a time of great change”

“Will be able to use gained knowledge at this forum 

in my work with carers”

“Fantastic Forum, the Carers NSW ladies are 

professional, friendly and very knowledgeable” 

MY PLAN MY CHOICE

My Plan My Choice (MPMC) is an individualised 
funding program helping individual older carers 
continue in their caring role in the mid North Coast 
region of NSW through individualised funding 
packages. Twelve carers were supported by MPMC 
in 2013-14.  

The program continues to thrive due to staff 
commitment which ensures it remains flexible, 
person-centred and allows choice for carers on 
the program.  This year, there was a real focus 
from the carers to encourage the person they are 
caring for to develop life skills, gain independence 
and to have more opportunity to participate in the 
community. Through their MPMC package, carers 
purchased a variety of supports which included 
services from community support staff and access 
to day programs as well as domestic assistance and 
gardening.  

Carers on the program also purchased goods and 
services to maintain their own health and well-being. 
Examples include respite, leisure activities and 
medical alarms. 
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COFFS HARBOUR CRAFT STUDIO

The Carer Craft Studio has been operating for 12 
months with initial funding provided by North Coast 
Medicare Local. Initially 27 carers expressed an 
interest in the studio and since its launch it has been 
successful in attracting younger carers between the 
ages of 28 and 40, with groups of up to 11 attending 
on a weekly basis.

The Craft Studio meets many of the goals and 
outcomes of carers in Coffs Harbour. There is 
evidence that participating carers’ health and 
wellbeing has improved significantly and there is 
also expanded opportunity to participate in the 
community, including in education and employment.

Many referrals have been made as a result of the 
studio, including those for carers who had never 
accessed services before. Four carers are now 
utilising Carers NSW counselling services and two 
carers have the opportunity for respite.

Suitable funding to expand the Craft Studio is now 
being sought so that there are opportunities for 
carers across NSW to participate. Carers NSW will 
partner with NSW Home Support Services to provide 
studios in Bellingen, Macksville and Woolgoolga, 
with Bellingen due to begin in August 2014. 

KOORI YARNING GROUP

The Koori Yarning Group is a monthly carer support 
group and successful local initiative for Aboriginal 
carers in Western NSW in Dubbo, Warren, Gilgandra, 
Narromine and Wellington. There were 45 members 
and the group is a result of collaboration between 
Carers NSW and other local organisations. It is funded 
through Transport NSW, Commonwealth Respite 
& Carelink Centre (CRCC) and Western NSW Local 
Health District and Catholic Community Services.

The facilitators of the group aim to empower 
members, connect them to services, provide time out 
and identify gaps in the support services available 
to Aboriginal carers in the local area. Bi-monthly 
excursions provide an opportunity for carers to have 
a break, some fun and try something different.

The Koori Yarning Group gives Aboriginal Carers 
a place to feel safe, talk to someone in a similar 
situation and gain some helpful information to 
support them in their caring role. 

Within the Aboriginal community and culture it is 
often taken for granted that family members look 
after one another and many Aboriginal carers don’t 
acknowledge being in a caring role. This is why the 
Koori Yarning Group is such an important source 
of support for its members, and an invaluable 
opportunity just to have a yarn in a safe and 
informal setting. 

23



24 | Carers NSW Inc. Annual Report 2013-14

together PROGRAM

The together program is a Carers NSW initiative 
resourcing a network of support groups for carers of 
people with disability across the state. The program 
launched in early 2013 and has provided over 
$150,000 worth of grants to sustain carer support 
groups across NSW.

This year, the program engaged with over 23 
together Regional Assisting Organisations (RAOs) 
to deliver the program to 161 support groups for 
carers of people with disability. Of the 161 diverse 
carer support groups registered with the program, 
29 are new groups, 24 groups are culturally and 
linguistically diverse (CALD) and are attended by 
CALD carers, three are specifically for Aboriginal 
carers, five are specifically for young carers and 
50% of groups are located in regional, rural and 
remote NSW.

together EDUCATION & TRAINING

The Setting up a Carer Support Group Workshop 

was created and then delivered to 75 carers 
and service providers seeking to set up a new 
carer support group on 11 occasions across 
NSW during an eight month period. Workshop 
locations included Orange, Wollongong, Albury, 
Wagga Wagga, Lismore, Penrith, Newcastle, Port 
Macquarie and in Sydney.

The Carer Support Groups: A workshop for 

facilitators was delivered by the together team 
to 76 carers and service providers seeking to 
enhance their facilitation skills on eight occasions 
across NSW. Workshop locations included 
Broken Hill, Wollongong, Albury, Wagga Wagga, 
Lismore, the Blue Mountains, Port Macquarie and 
Sydney.

161 
Support groups 
registered to the 
together program
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POLICY AND ADVOCACY

Carers NSW continues to deliver leadership and systemic advocacy for all carers, including through the 
work of the Policy and Research team. In 2013-14 Carers NSW advocated for carers through participation 
in inquiries, consultations and committees at all levels of government across health, mental health, disability 
and ageing, including raising awareness of carers in more than 35 written submissions.
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CONSULTATION FOR THE NSW CARERS 
STRATEGY 

Carers NSW worked closely with the NSW 
Government on the consultation process for the 
development of the NSW Carers Strategy, a five-
year strategy aimed at improving the lives of carers 
in this state. The first stage of the consultation 
process involved seven sets of workshops bringing 
together carers, government and non-government 
organisations, business people and academics 
to discuss and develop ideas about how carers 
can be better supported by governments and the 
community. 

The second stage was an online survey asking the 
community to nominate which of the key ideas 
stemming from the workshops were the most 
important for supporting carers. 2,362 people 
completed the survey, of whom 58% were carers 
and 11% former carers.

A number of Carer Representatives, staff and Board 
members from Carers NSW participated in the 
NSW Ministerial Carers Summit, the final stage of 
consultation.  

STRONGER CARERS, STRONGER 
COMMUNITIES – CARERS NSW 2014-
15 PRE-BUDGET SUBMISSION

The Carers NSW 2014-15 pre-budget submission 
called upon the NSW Government to increase their 
investment in carers, in order to strengthen our 
communities now and well into the future. Carers 
NSW argued that major reforms in the disability 
and health sectors have the potential to positively 
transform the caring experience, and advocated 
for carers to be included as these reforms 
become reality in NSW. Specifically, Carers NSW 
recommended that the NSW Government: 

1. Invest in the NSW Carers Strategy

2.  Get the most out of person centred approaches 
for carers

3. Back our young carers in schools

4. Enable carers to work and care

5. Partner with carers in health services

6. Eliminate transport disadvantage for carers 

A RENEWED FOCUS ON CARERS AND 
HOUSING

In 2013-14, Carers NSW renewed its focus on 
housing policy and the impacts on carers. Activity 
in the housing policy portfolio included attendance 
at the National Housing Conference and the 
Community Housing Federation of Australia forum 
on Housing, Disability and the NDIS and regular 
participation in the bimonthly NGO Housing Partners 
Reference Group held by Housing NSW. 

Carers NSW made submissions to two major 
housing inquiries in March 2014: the Senate 
Standing Committee on Economics inquiry into 
Housing affordability and the Senate inquiry into 
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Social, public and affordable housing in NSW. 
Members of the policy team also published articles 
about carers in two housing sector publications: 
Around the House published by Shelter NSW 
(September 2013 edition) and Parity published 
by the Council for Homeless Persons (June 2014 
edition).

In addition, Carers NSW applied for funding for a 
project on identifying and supporting hidden carers 
in social housing. The Hidden Carers Outreach 
Project proposal was successful in attracting 
$190,000 of funding over an 18-month period, and 
has been incorporated into the suite of projects 
being led by Carers NSW as part of the NSW Carers 
Strategy commencing in 2014-15.

 
CARERS IN THE NATIONAL DISABILITY 
INSURANCE SCHEME

The commencement of the Hunter trial site for 
the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) 
in 2013-14 has provided Carers NSW with the 
valuable opportunity to monitor the development 
of the Scheme and its initial impacts on carers in 
NSW. Carers NSW has continued to advocate for a 
Scheme that considers and responds to the goals, 
needs and preferences of people with disability and 
their carers. Carers NSW was pleased to observe 
progress within the Scheme over its first year of 
rollout that demonstrates an increasing awareness 
and recognition of carers.

Other notable work by the Policy Team in 2013-14 
included input into the:

•  Strategic framework for integrated care of the 
older person with complex health needs 

• NSW Rural Health Plan

•  Senate inquiry into out-of-pocket costs in 
Australian healthcare

•  National Review of Mental Health Programmes 
and Services 

•  National Disability Insurance Agency Draft 
Strategic Plan 2013-16

• NSW Disability Inclusion Bill

•  Review of the Lifetime Care and Support 
Authority and the Motor Accidents Authority

Carers NSW is also an active member of a number 
of advocacy networks, including the:

•  Council of Social Services NSW Health Policy 
Advisory Group

• NSW Community Care Issues Forum

• LGBTI Metro Interagency 

• NSW Aged Care Alliance

• Assistive Technology Community Alliance NSW 

• Transport Policy Advisory Group

 
 

35 
Submissions mean 
Carers NSW makes a 
difference to carers
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State

Agency Submission / topic

NSW Government 
Inquiry into the NDIS Scheme Bill 2012

Stronger Carers, Stronger Communities - Carers NSW 
2014-15 pre-budget submission

NSW Department of Family and Community Services Draft Disability Inclusion Bill 2014

NSW Ministry of Health

NSW State Health Plan 2013 - 2023

Review of NSW Mental Health Act 2007 

A Strategic Health Plan for Children, Young People and 
Families of NSW 2014-2024

Draft NSW Rural Health Plan

NSW Agency for Clinical Innovation (ACI) 

Strategic Framework for integrated care of the older 
person with complex health needs
Key principles for care of confused hospitalised older 
persons

NSW Electoral Commission Feedback on Equal Access to Democracy Disability 
Action Plan 2014-16

NSW Legislative Council Standing Committee on Law and 
Justice

Fifth review of the exercise and functions of the Lifetime 
Care and Support Authority and Twelfth review of the 
Motor Accidents Authority

NSW Legislative Council Select Committee on Social, 
Public and Affordable Housing Inquiry into social, public and affordable housing

Botany Bay City Council Botany Bay City Council Draft Disability Action Plan 2013-
17

City of Sydney City of Sydney Draft Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 
2014-2017

Federal

Agency Submission / topic

Australian Commission on Safety and Quality Health Care 
Quality of Care survey consultation

Health care consumers consultation survey

Australian Law Reform Commission Inquiry into Equality, Capacity and Disability in 
Commonwealth Laws issues paper

National Mental Health Commission Review of Mental Health Services and Programmes

Department of Health and Ageing Review of Medicare Locals

National Disability Insurance Agency National Disability Insurance Agency Draft Strategic Plan 
2013-16

Senate Standing Committee on Economics Inquiry into affordable housing

Senate Standing Committee on Community Affairs Inquiry into out-of-pocket costs in Australian healthcare.

Senate Standing Committee on Community Affairs 
Inquiry into the prevalence of different types of speech, 
language and communication disorders and speech 
pathology services in Australia

KEY SUBMISSIONS, INQUIRIES AND POLICY FOCI 



Agency Committees and advisory groups

NSW Department of Family and Community Services NSW Ministerial Carers Advisory Council

Network of Carers Associations National Policy Working Group

NSW Department of Family and Community Services NSW Carer Strategy consultation workshops

NSW Department of Family and Community Services NSW Carers Strategy Summit

Transport for NSW Accessible Transport Advisory Committee

Housing NSW Housing and Mental Health Agreement; 
Implementation Steering Committee

Baptistcare, Norwest Stronger Carers Steering Committee

Western Sydney Medicare Local Western Sydney Partners in Recovery (WSPIR) 
Advisory Committee 

Western Sydney Local Health District WSLHD Carers Committee

Health Care Complaints Commission Consumer Consultative Committee

Australian NZ Hip Fracture Registry Steering Group

South Eastern Sydney Local Health District SESLHD Disability Action Plan and Carer Recognition 
Act Implementation Committee

NSW Health SHAPE reference group - End of Life Care

Council of Social Service of NSW Transport Policy Advisory Group

Housing NSW NGO Housing Partners Reference Group

Council of Social Services of NSW Health Policy Advisory Group

Agency Meetings and events

National Disability and Carer Alliance Getting to Grips with the NDIS forum

Department of Human Services Mental Health Advisory Forum

Council of the Ageing NSW NSW Ageing Alliance 

Council of Social Services of NSW Assistive Technology Community Alliance NSW 
(ATCAN)

Agency for Clinical Innovation Chronic Disease Management Roundtable 

Aged and Community Services NSW & ACT Community Care Issues Forum

Community Housing Federation of Australia Forum on housing, disability and the NDIS

Leichhardt Council Leichhardt Council Disability Action Plan Workshops

Care Connect Metro NSW LGBTI Interagency

Network of alcohol and other drugs agencies Community (re)Integration Forum

Aged Care Accreditation Agency NSW Agency Liaison Group Meeting

NSW Ombudsman Disability Roundtable 

NSW Health Partnering with Carers - Health Education

NSW Trustee and Guardian Planning for Later Life Forum

South Eastern Sydney Local Health District SESLHD Culturally Diverse Carers Network meeting

COMMITTEES, KEY MEETINGS AND PARTNERSHIPS 
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EDUCATION AND TRAINING

GUEST SPEAKING AND PROMOTION

The Education and Training team conducted guest speaking presentations and promoted Carers NSW 
services and programs to approximately 2,175 carers (across all target groups including working carers, 
young carers, CALD and Aboriginal carers) and to approximately 1,014 service providers (both government 
and non government) in 2013-2014. These included presentations to working carers at corporate 
organisations such as Deutsche Bank and HSBC.

Carer awareness and Carers NSW was also promoted at 23 exhibition events such as the Spinal Cord 
Injuries Australia Independence expo, the Campbelltown Show, the gala concerts for seniors during Seniors 
Week attracting 50,000 people, Carers Day Out during Carers Week and Medicare Local professional 
development events for health professionals and general practitioners. 

The team also assisted Carers NSW staff by co-delivering workshops relevant to their respective programs. 
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These included:

•  Supported Living Fund Round 3 information 
sessions (a government initiative under Stronger 

Together 2) 

•  Moving Forward workshops for families with 
children transitioning to school under the Better 
Start initiative, and

•  Through the Cracks (Young Carer Program) 
to teachers, school counsellors and drug and 
alcohol clinicians. 

UNDERSTANDING AND SUPPORTING 
CARERS

The Understanding and Supporting Carers 
training module was developed to build capacity 
in government and non-government health and 
community care service providers to support and 
work with carers, and raise recognition of the role 
and value of carers in service provision. 

The two-hour education session provides 
participants with:

•  A comprehensive understanding of carers in 
society, the impacts of caring, the diversity of 
carers and their caring experience, and the 
importance of identifying carers in ensuring their 
access to support services.

•  Recognition that carers have needs independent 
of those of the care recipient which need to 
be acknowledged and supported if their caring 
capacity is to be sustained, now and for the 
future. 

•  Awareness of Carers NSW resources which can 
be used to engage and increase the capacity of 
carers in their caring role.

Understanding and Supporting Carers was delivered 
to 120 service providers including home support 
workers from Cavalry Care in the Hunter region 
of NSW and to 200 students undertaking the 
Certificate III and IV Community Services (Disability 
or Age Care) or Certificate III Home and Community 
Care. The Understanding and Supporting Carers 
session has become a valuable session and is 
being constantly requested in addressing one of 
the core competencies included in the Community 
Services and Home and Community Care Certificate 
curriculums, namely ‘Working Effectively with Carers.’

 
CARER SUPPORT GROUP FACILITATION 
SKILLS WORKSHOP

The Carer Support Group Facilitation Skills workshop 
was delivered to 30 carer support group facilitators. 

The workshops provide carer support group 
facilitators with knowledge and skills to assist them 
in their facilitation role and introduces them to carer 
support group resources developed by Carers NSW 
including the Carer Support Groups: An information 

and support resource for facilitators. Participant 
feedback was consistently positive.

2,175
carers attended 
our education 
workshops and 
presentations
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INFORMATION AND RESOURCES

CARERS NEWS

Carers News continues as a key means of communication for members of Carers NSW. The number of 
individuals, groups and organisations receiving Carers News has increased by 500 in the past year, with the 
current number of recipients placed at 5,100. In 2013-2014, the bi-monthly Carers News continued to cover a 
range of news, carer stories, feature articles, book reviews and other editorial pieces. 

eBULLETIN

The eBulletin is delivered monthly and received by 2,017 subscribers. It aims to keep subscribers up to date 
with the latest developments for carers and features research, policy and best-practice on carer-related 
issues, plus the latest news, conferences and publications. eBulletin is primarily subscribed to by service 
providers, government departments and other organisations. 
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SOCIAL MEDIA 

Carers NSW Facebook and Twitter accounts 
continued to gain following at a rapid rate. On 30 
June 2014, there were 851 Carers NSW Facebook 
page likes and 1,731 followers on Twitter, with Twitter 
followers increasing at an average rate of just under 
two people a day. The Facebook page has a very 
positive focus and engages an increasingly large 
number of carers, whereas the Twitter account has 
a higher following amongst service providers and 
organisations, and is primarily used to enhance Carers 
NSW leadership position and provide information.

WEBSITE

The Carers NSW website continues to provide a 
vital point of reference for all Carers NSW services 
and programs. The number of website sessions 
increased to 88,177. This is a rise of 31% from the 
previous year.

YOUNG CARERS NEWS AND YOUNG 
CARERS ENEWS

The Young Carer Program produces the YC E-News 
and YC News publications in order to connect and 
communicate with young carers, their families and 
service providers. Subscriptions to each continue to 
grow with 2,265 young carers receiving the monthly 
eNews and 2,939 receiving the quarterly YC News 

TOM FINK LIBRARY

The Tom Fink Library continues to develop its 
collection of books, films and other resources in 2013-
14. The online catalogue which can be accessed via 
the Carers NSW website allows individuals to search 
for titles online and lodge requests to borrow items.

NEW LOOK YOUNG CARERS 
RESOURCES

A full rebranding of the Young Carer Program 
materials was successfully completed to better 
reach hidden young carers by designing 
resources (brochure, posters, stickers and sign 
up cards) that reflect a more relevant look for 
the youth market. To launch the resources and 
reach as many hidden young carers as possible 
and link them to the program, the Young Carer 
Team ran the Who Cares? We Do! Campaign. 
The campaign encourages teachers, service 
providers, family members, counsellors, or young 
carers themselves to become a Young Carer 
Champion by ordering a Who Cares? We Do! 

Campaign resource pack, organising a Young 
Carer Display area in their school, service, local 
GP, hospital, university or youth organisation and 
taking a photo of their display area for promotion 
via Facebook, YC website and YC News.  

212 Young Carer Champions were registered 
and over 284 resource packs were distributed 
throughout NSW. Several major stakeholders 
engaged in the campaign including Canteen, 
Cerebral Palsy Alliance, Headspace as well as a 
number of Government departments. Young carer 
display areas were set up in 21 schools, eight 
hospitals, 32 libraries and a number of disability, 
mental health and youth services across the state.
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RAISING CARER AWARENESS

2013 CARERS WEEK 

National campaign 

National Carers Week was held from 13 - 19 October 2013 with the theme “Be Care Aware,” and the call 
to action “Take a Break for Carers”. The week was an opportunity to heighten awareness of carers in the 
community, celebrate the work of carers and better enable carers to seek services and supports. A national 
Carers Week campaign including events and an advertising campaign was conducted by the former 
Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing and coordinated by Carers Australia.   
 
Carers week events funded in NSW

In NSW, 400 carer support groups and organisations held activities across the state as part of 2013 
Carers Week through the NSW Department of Family and Community Services funded Carers Week Grant 
Program. Based on the evaluation forms received, it is estimated that these activities were attended by 
approximately 9,000 carers and guests across NSW, 3,500 in the Sydney metro area and 5,500 across 
regional NSW.  Media monitoring of all NSW media outlets (from 1 July to 30 November) resulted in 97 
media articles mentioning Carers Week generating further awareness in the general community.
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Carers Day Out

Carers NSW also partnered with the City of Sydney, 
Babana Aboriginal Men’s Group, Weave, and the 
Department of Human Services – Centrelink to 
stage a Sydney Carers Day Out event on Tuesday 
15 October 2013 in Martin Place.  Many carers, 
including hidden carers and carers from CALD, 
GLBTI and Aboriginal communities, visited the 
Carers NSW information stall as well as the 24 stalls 
occupied by service providers and stakeholders, 
with approximately 300 Carers NSW resource bags 
distributed on the day. 

Highlights of Carers Day Out included a 
performance by carer and singer-songwriter Tansy 
Mayhew (featured on our cover), a performance by 
local Marrickville singer, songwriter Martha Chess-
Phelps, the Sydney Sings Choir and the Alexandria 
Park Community School Choir. The wellbeing 
tent held activities for carers during the morning 
including, meditation, art therapy experience, 
laughter wellbeing and a gardening workshop.

Regional offices also held events in Carers 
Week. The Carers NSW Coffs Harbour team, in 
collaboration with other service providers, delivered 
a successful Carers Day Out pampering day in Coffs 
Harbour where carers were able to experience 
massages, laughter yoga, and other wellbeing 
centred activities. The Dubbo Carers NSW office 
hosted a Carers Week morning tea. The tea was 
a huge success bringing together carers at the 
Western Plains Cultural Centre with the Local Mayor 
Mathew Dickerson who addressed the carers and 
thanked them for their contributions. 
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CARERS COOKING MASTERCLASSES

In December 2013 and January 2014, utilising 
funds provided by Carers Australia and raised by 
the 2013 charity cycle-ride Pollie Pedal, Carers NSW 
hosted three Carers Cooking Masterclass events 
in Tamworth, Coffs Harbour and Queanbeyan. 
These events were extremely successful securing 
attendance by 140 carers, positive feedback and 
requests for such events to become regular.

The theme of the Masterclass event was healthy 
eating, living and self-care tailored for carers, with 
the Queanbeyan event having a particular focus 
on Aboriginal carers. Each event featured a range 
of free health and hearing checks or information 
sessions focusing on self-care. Additional workshops 
in meditation, gentle stretching, yoga and Tai chi 
were also provided. A wide range of local service 
providers attended and were on hand to provide 
advice or information.

The purpose of these events was multifaceted. 
They provided social inclusion and networking for 
carers, facilitated and strengthened Carers NSW 
partnerships with local service providers and 
organisations and provided carers with some time 
out to focus on themselves. 

The events also allowed Carers NSW to raise 
awareness of carers and caring issues in some key 
regional communities. Featuring a well-known local 
chef at each event secured local media attendance 
and gained coverage for carers and carers issues 
in the following mediums; Prime 7 Local news 
– Tamworth, NBN news – Local mid coast, The 

Northern Leader – Tamworth, The Queanbeyan 

Chronicle, the Coffs Harbour  

Advocate and ABC radio – mid North coast.

  

 
CARER REPRESENTATION PROGRAM

Carers NSW continued to support approximately 
80 Carer Representatives to improve awareness 
and support for carers by sharing their insights and 
experiences. A number of Carer Representatives 
were involved in the development of the NSW Carers 
Strategy, while other activities included speaking 
at conferences, such as the Occupational Therapy 
Australia 2014 NSW & ACT State Conference, 
providing feedback for work by the Policy and 
Research team and media interviews. 

The program aims to represent the diversity of carers, 
including 48 carers of people with a disability, 33 
carers of people with a mental illness, 15 carers from 
CALD backgrounds and ten young carers. 

DOLLY MAGAZINE

Carers NSW staff worked closely with journalists 
from Dolly Magazine on an article about young 
carers and to support the Dolly website to run 
its own Young Carer Week, which generated 
awareness and support for young carers among 
their readership and beyond. Two Carers NSW 
Young Carer Leaders were supported by Carers 
NSW to take part in this campaign. 
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MEDIA

Carers NSW continued to promote carers issues 
in the media throughout 2013-2014. Carers NSW 
helped to coordinate coverage of carers issues in 
the following publications and programs:

• Dolly Magazine

•  ABC News including; News 24 Sydney and 
breakfast news 

• SBS News 

• The Feed 

• Australian Business Journal Online 

• 2UE (954 AM) radio

• 2HC (100.5 FM or 639 AM) radio

• ABC radio

• 2SER (107.3 FM)

• Channel 9 – Morning Show

• 2HD Newcastle

• Prime 7 Local news – Tamworth

• NBN news – Local mid coast

• The Northern Leader – Tamworth 

• The Queanbeyan Chronicle

• The Coffs Harbour Advocate 

 

During 2013-2014, Carers NSW issued 21 media 
releases. These covered topics such as new initiative 
and program launches, Carers NSW events and 
workshops, the Carers NSW survey, the NSW Carer 
Strategy Summit, and current carer statistics.

Media interest in carers and carers issues has 
increased on both a state and national platform. An 
increase in the amount of regional coverage was 
also notable, particularly around the time of the 
Pollie Pedal regionally focused events.

9,000 
Over

people attended 
400 Carers  
Week events

37



RESEARCH 

In 2013-14 Carers NSW engaged in a range of research activities, including analysing and publishing 
existing data, and developing partnerships with researchers from other organisations and academic 
institutions.

 
CARER SURVEY

The 2014 Carer Survey was developed in consultation with an expert reference committee. This 
consultation process facilitated the development of a rigorous survey framework that will be utilised 
every two years to track changes over time. Abstracts based on emerging survey findings were accepted 
for presentation at the Australian Institute of Family Studies Conference and the Australian Long-Term 
Unemployment Conference. The final survey report is due to be released in October 2014, with additional, 
in-depth publications to follow.
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PUBLICATIONS

Specific findings from the Carer Survey (2012) have 
been accepted for publication in the Australian 

Journal of Social Issues and Social Work in Mental 

Health. A review/discussion paper was also 
published in the Journal of Media and Culture.

 
UNIVERSITY PARTNERSHIPS

Carers NSW joined Carers Queensland, Alzheimer’s 
Australia and On The Line in partnering with 
researchers from Griffith University on a National 
Health and Medical Research Council grant 
application. Carers NSW also commenced 
partnering with Macquarie University’s PACE 
program, agreeing to host research student 
placements in Semester 2, 2014. 

 

SUPPORTED UNIVERSITY RESEARCH

Carers NSW supported and promoted more than 
20 local and national university based research 
projects conducted by researchers from institutions 
including: the Social Policy Research Centre 
(University of New South Wales), University of 
Sydney, University of Western Sydney, Macquarie 
University, University of Wollongong, University of 
Newcastle, Australian Catholic University, University 
of New England, the Brain and Mind Research 
Institute, Australian College of Applied Psychology, 
Griffith University, University of Queensland, Monash 
University, Deakin University and James Cook 
University.

RESEARCH COMMUNITY

The Carers NSW Research Community is a database 
of people interested in receiving information about 
opportunities to participate in research projects. 
In 2013-14, the Research Community grew to a 
membership of over 170. This has enabled Carers 
NSW to keep these carers updated with research 
opportunities, and enhanced the organisation’s 
reputation and appeal as a research partner for 
external organisations.

20 
research partnerships 
and 170 members of the 
Research Community
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ORGANISATIONAL  
SUPPORT SERVICES

The Finance and Corporate Services Unit continued to focus on the commitment to continually improve 
operational efficiency and ensure Carers NSW is an effective organisation. 

The specialist staff in each of these areas are committed to providing a superior level of support to business units 
across the organisation to enable them to meet their objectives.

FINANCIAL SERVICES

The year in review

2013-14 was a period of consolidation for Carers NSW. Income and expenses were slightly decreased from the 
previous year and a surplus of $120,971 was recorded.

Financial Strategy

Carers NSW has solid financial management, overseen by the Finance committee, driven by a sound strategic 
plan and strengthened by strong compliance and financial controls as well as prudent cash management.
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Reserves and Assets

For the 2013-14 financial year, Carers NSW 
maintained an appropriate level of reserves to meet 
current and future obligations. Reserves at the end of 
the financial year were $3.12 million.

Income

The majority of Carers NSW’s income comes 
from Government both Federal and State (90%), 
augmented by 5% from interest and 5% from 
membership, donations and other income.

Expenditure

Carers NSW resources are used primarily to support 
carers through counselling and support, direct 
management of individualised carers’ funds, carers’ 
education and policy development.

 
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Carers NSW emphasis on IT continued in 2013-14, 
maintaining a commitment to providing an array of 
comprehensive IT services with reliable products, 
ensuring Carers NSW is equipped to effectively 
leverage technical capacity and business advantages 
that come with the latest business solutions.

Support Services

A combination of in-house and contracted staff 
ensured that Carers NSW services have a mix of 
skilled specialists who provide strategic solutions, up 
to date expertise, and best practices to ensure long-
term success. The team responds quickly to user 
issues and has an excellent track record in customer 
satisfaction.

Projects

2013-2014 saw the completion of:
• Unified Communications Solution
• Exchange Server Upgrade
• Video Conferencing Upgrade
• eLearning Planning and Development
• Computer Hardware Refresh
• Continued website development

Database Systems Upgrade – Greentree Client 
Relationship Management System

To ensure the services delivered by Carers NSW 
are of the highest possible quality, an upgrade of 
the client relationship management (CRM) system 
utilised by all Carers NSW frontline services staff 
commenced. As part of this investment, a Project 
Manager was appointed to oversee and deliver the 
implementation of the system.

The system will be an extension of Greentree, the 
existing software package currently utilised by the 
Finance and Corporate Services teams and in use 
by several other Carers Associations. This is an 
exciting opportunity that will enable Carers NSW to 
better integrate its internal and external services and 
have greater flexibility to adapt and respond to the 
changing needs of carers.

 
HUMAN RESOURCES

Throughout the year, Carers NSW has sought to 
attract, develop and retain capable staff to meet our 
business plan and strategic directions. 

Employee Survey

As an organisation who strives to provide a 
supportive work environment, Carers NSW values the 
feedback provided by staff who took the opportunity 
to participate in the Employee survey.

Results of the survey highlighted Carers NSW as an 
organisation who outperformed other community 
service organisations in the sector in most areas of 
the survey. 

Key organisational strengths identified by the survey 
was the overall passion and progress that staff 
recognised, suggesting staff are engaged, are aware 
of, and support Carers NSW’s purpose, values and 
direction and are highly satisfied working alongside 
their colleagues. 
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STAFF CONFERENCE

The annual staff conference is a great opportunity 
for all staff to collectively undertake professional 
development, link and collaborate on significant 
topics that are a part of the organisation. The 
conference theme was diversity, which was chosen 
for staff to think about diversity in the workplace, 
in relation to the work they undertake and the 
organisation as a whole. The conference held in 
Newcastle was a valuable experience for staff to 
share their skills, experience and thoughts to meet 
the needs of carers and stakeholders.

 
WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Work Health and Safety (WHS) Committee met 
throughout 2013-14 and has continued to work 
towards achieving an excellent standard of health and 
safety. 

The WHS Committee identified a number of patterns 
and issues that emerged when reviewing incident 
and hazard reports, and developed strategies to 
remediate these included implementing a suspicious 
mail handling procedure and issuing a WHS alert 
about the risks of not taking allocated breaks. 

Mental health in the workplace was added as a 
standing agenda item for WHS Committee meetings, 
in recognition of the benefits and importance 
of promoting mental health in the workplace. 
Subsequently, the WHS Committee led a number 
of activities, most notably R U OK? Day, a suicide 
prevention initiative. 

Manual handling training was delivered to all staff and 
volunteers. Additionally, a number of actions have 
been undertaken to address the ergonomic health of 
staff, including the removal of arm rests to allow staff 
to adjust their workstation and the installation of mail 
storage areas at an appropriate height. 

The 2014 Employee Survey results highlighted 95% 
of staff are aware of their WHS responsibilities and 
92% of staff agreed that keeping high levels of health 
and safety is a priority of Carers NSW.

 
QUALITY IMPROVEMENT 

In 2014 Carers NSW commenced an accreditation 
process through Quality Innovation Performance 
(QIP). The process will meet the Quality Improvement 
Council (QIC) Health and Community Services 
Standards (HCSS) and cover the NSW Disability 
Standards, Home Care Standards, National Standards 
for Mental Health Services, and the NSW Good 
Practice Standards. 

Carers NSW has undertaken Quality Improvement 
activities to enhance the diverse services provided, 
including policy and procedure development and/
or review, staff education, Quality Improvement 
Committee meetings and the maintenance of a register 
to document all Carers NSW Quality Improvement 
activities. This is in line with changes to legislation, in 
particular privacy and risk management processes. 

Carers NSW is pleased to be on the road to 
accreditation to improve our work with carers.
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SUPPORTERS OF CARERS NSW 

Dr Tom Acheson

Emeritus Professor Peter Baume

Mr John Berryman

Ms Jennifer Bott

Professor Tony Broe AM

Ms Lucy Brogden

Ms Anne Deveson

Associate Professor Michael Fine

Dr Ian Fitzpatrick

Mr Michael  Fitzpatrick

Mrs Patricia Harrison

Professor  Ian Hickie

Ms Robin Hughes A.O

Mr Paul Livingston

Ms  Miriam Margolyes

Ms Julie McCrossin

Ms Katrina Clarke

Mr Ross McLuckie

Ms Mary Moody

Mr  Richard Ottley

Associate Professor Melanie Oppenheimer

Ms Vivienne Pusey

Mr John Shanahan

Mr Chris Taylor

Emeritus Professor Ian Webster AO

Mr Andrew McKinnon

Christina Aggar

Dave Carter

Dulcie Flower

Jim Warren

James Walker

FRIENDS OF CARERS NSW

Friends of Carers NSW help our organisation by contributing their time and skills. They assist in strategy 
development and decision making by supplementing the knowledge of the staff and Board. This might 
be through the provision of legal advice, or ideas on how to raise our profile and increase our networks. 
Friends do not play an active role in day-to-day operations but act as honorary consultants to the Board.

Friends of Carers NSW are drawn from a wide range of sectors, including the arts, health, legal, media and 
financial services. Carers NSW is extremely grateful for the advice given and active participation in our 
endeavours by the following Friends of Carers NSW. 
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PARLIAMENTARY FRIENDS

Carers NSW is extremely grateful to Parliamentary 
Friends for their support and involvement in Carers 
NSW events and information sessions.

The Hon Helen Westwood MLC

The Hon John Ajaka MLC 

Mr John Robertson MP

Dr Andrew McDonald MP

Mr Rob Stokes MP

The Hon Shelley Hancock MP

The Hon Katrina Hodgkinson MP

The Hon Andrew Constance MP

Mr Greg Piper MP

The Hon Jillian Skinner MP

The Hon Mike Baird MP

Mr John Williams MP

The Hon Melinda Pavey MLC

The Hon Kevin Humphries MP

DONORS

Carers NSW gratefully acknowledges individual 
donors.

Ms Amy Ellis

Mr Albert McDermott

Mrs Christine Gorman

Mrs Mary Reynolds

Mrs Barbara Sved

Mr Bruce Disney

Miss Rae Mashford 

Miss Janet Clark 

Mrs Margot White

VOLUNTEERS

Carers NSW acknowledges its many volunteers who 
contribute their time and skills to support the work 
of our organisation.

Roxy Brady

Lilian Clayton

Jean Foxover 

Isabella Kane

Vincent Kane

Ian Kirkham

Irene lam

Barbara Lee

Regina Lyon

Bart Madden 

Sally Moss

Helen O’Doherty

Marie Shipway

Philip Hung

Elizabeth Hung

 
CORPORATE SUPPORTERS 

Carers NSW gratefully acknowledges the following 
organisations for their financial or in kind support in 
2013-14.

True Alliance

HESTA

Rothschild Australia

Young Endeavour Youth Scheme

Perpetual
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

DIRECTORS' REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Directors

      Laraine Toms Stephen Bowles (Hon. Treasurer)

      Felicity Purdy Eileen McDonald

      Josephine Maxwell Jenine Bradburn

      Michele Ferris Trish McClure (Elected Dec 2013)

      Lynette Nixon (Co-opted Feb 2014) Bruce Howle (Co-opted Feb 2014)

      Jim Warren (Resigned Nov 2013) David Carter (Resigned Dec 2013)

      Christina Aggar (Resigned Dec 2013) Dulcie Flower (Resigned Dec 2013)

      Gary Stanford (Co-opted Feb & Resigned Aug 2014)

Principal Activities

Significant Changes

No significant changes in the association's state of affairs occurred during the financial year.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

Operating Results

2014 2013

120,971$       431,501$       

                                                                                 , Director

Laraine Toms (President)

Sydney, 15th August 2014

                                                                                 , Director

Stephen Bowles (Honorary Treasurer)

Sydney, 15th August 2014

The principal activities of the association during the financial year were to represent carers and

advance the interests of carers. It is the peak organisation for carers in New South Wales.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report

any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of

the association, to affect significantly the operations of the association, the results of those

operations, or the state of affairs of the association, in future financial years.

Your directors present their report on the association for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

The names of the directors in office throughout the year and at the date of this report are:

The surplus of the association for the financial year amounted to:

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors by:
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

Note 2014 2013

$ $

Revenue and other income 2 (a) 8,151,200      8,385,044      

Depreciation 2 (b) (190,008)        (171,223)        

Grant expenditures (7,302,982)     (7,385,798)     

Office Costs (17,524)          (16,343)          

Other expenses (414,561)        (365,315)        

Premises and Equipment Expenses (2,211)            (704)               

Professional Fees (12,821)          (11,728)          

Staff Costs (50,679)          -                 

Staff Training Costs (99)                 -                 

Transfer of Operating Deficit from Grants (35,043)          -                 

Travel Expenses (4,301)            (2,432)            

Surplus from operations 120,971         431,501         

Other comprehensive income -                 -                 

Total comprehensive income for the year 120,971         431,501         

STATEMENT OF SURPLUS OR DEFICIT AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

Note 2014 2013

$ $

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,973,707      958,973         

Trade and other receivables 4 170,269         316,669         

Other current assets 5 67,980           42,912           

Financial assets 6 7,760,262      9,627,498      

Total Current Assets 9,972,218      10,946,052    

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 7 655,924         672,901         

Total Non-Current Assets 655,924         672,901         

Total Assets 10,628,142    11,618,953    

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 7,129,007      8,309,980      

Short-term provisions 9 201,333         177,294         

Total Current Liabilities 7,330,340      8,487,274      

Non-Current Liabilities

Long-term provisions 9 177,170         132,018         

Total Non-Current liabilities 177,170         132,018         

Total Liabilities 7,507,510      8,619,292      

Net Assets 3,120,632      2,999,661      

Equity

Accumulated surplus 3,120,632      2,999,661      

Total Equity 3,120,632      2,999,661      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Accumulated Total

Surplus

$ $

Balance as at 1 July 2012 2,568,160      2,568,160      

Surplus from operations 431,501         431,501         

Balance as at 30 June 2013 2,999,661      2,999,661      

Surplus from operations 120,971         120,971         

Balance as at 30 June 2014 3,120,632      3,120,632      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 2014 2013

$ $

Cash flow from operating activities

Receipts from government grants 6,451,952      7,527,866      

Payments to suppliers and employees (7,530,553)     (7,484,870)     

Donations received 6,406             15,176           

Interest received 392,724         569,207         

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 10 (679,471)        627,379         

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (173,031)        (190,653)        

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment -                 -                 

Proceed / (purchase) from held to maturity investments 1,867,236      (543,871)        

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,694,205      (734,524)        

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings -                 -                 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities -                 -                 

Net increase in cash held 1,014,734      (107,145)        

Cash at beginning of financial year 958,973         1,066,118      

Cash at end of financial year 3 1,973,707      958,973         

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

Accounting Policies

a.

b.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where

applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Plant and equipment

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,

as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will

flow to the association and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and

maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

This financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs and

does not take into account changing money values or, except where specifically stated, current

valuations of non-current assets.

Income tax

The association is exempt from paying income tax due to its classification as a charitable

institution under section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 .

This financial report covers Carers New South Wales Incorporated as an individual entity. Carers New

South Wales Incorporated is an association incorporated under the Associations Incorporation Act

2009 .

This financial report is a special purpose financial report that has been prepared in order to satisfy the

financial reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 2009 . The board of directors

have determined that the association is not a reporting entity.

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying

amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying

amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount. 

The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless 

otherwise stated, have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report.

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset's

useful life commencing from the time the asset is available for use. Leasehold improvements are

depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful

lives of the improvements.
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rate

Office Furniture and Equipment 10 - 30%

Motor Vehicle 12.50%

Leasehold Improvements 20%

c.

d.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-

line basis over the life of the lease term.

Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to

the ownership of the asset, but not the legal ownership, which are transferred to association are

classified as finance leases. 

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful

lives where it is likely that the association will obtain ownership of the asset or ownership over the

term of the lease. 

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts

equal to the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments,

including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of

the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end

of each reporting period. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.

These gains and losses are recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. When revalued assets

are sold, amounts included in the revaluation relating to that asset are transferred to accumulated

surplus.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the

lessor, are recognised as expenses on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Impairment of assets
At the end of each reporting period, the association assesses whether there is any indication that

an asset may be impaired. The assessment will consider both external and internal sources of

information. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by

comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less

costs to sell and its value in use, to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying

value over its recoverable amount is immediately recognised in profit or loss.
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

e. 

f. 

g. 

h. 

i. 

For grants received in advance, it is the policy of the association to bring grants received to

account during the period to which they relate, rather than the period in which they were received.

However, certain grants received during the year, and in prior years, did not have an expiration

date, or were not fully expended at 30 June 2014. The balance of grants outstanding and grants in

advance at 30 June 2014 are listed in detail in Note 8(a).

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate

financial assets, is the rate inherent in the instrument. 

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is recognised against the

revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss

does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that class of asset.

Employee entitlements

Provision is made for the association's liability for employee benefits arising from services

rendered by employees to balance date. Employee benefits have been measured at the amounts

expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Grants for the acquisition of fixed assets

Fixed assets and equipment acquired from grants received are expensed in the period of

acquisition within the relevant program statements for grant acquittal purposes and are capitalised

and included as income within the statement of comprehensive income for statutory reporting

purposes. 

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the association has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result

of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that

outflow can be reliably measured.

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset's

ability to generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its

remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement

cost of an asset.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the association

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration or grant income received or receivable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-

term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown as short-term borrowings within current liabilities on the statement of

financial position.
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

j.

k. 

l.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for

goods and services received by the association during the reporting period which remains unpaid.

The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of

recognition of the liability.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the

amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australia Taxation Office. In these

circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an

item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown

inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST

components of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to

changes in presentation for the current financial years.

Where the association has retrospectively applied an accounting policy, made a retrospective

restatement or reclassified items in its financial statements, an additional statement of financial

position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period will be disclosed.

11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 2 : Surplus from operation 2014 2013

$ $

a) Revenue and other income

Government grant revenue 7,334,124      7,276,698      

Other Revenue

 - Consultancy fees and room hire 77,420           97,248           

 - Donations 6,406             15,176           

 - Grants for the acquisition of fixed assets 140,888         190,653         

 - Interest received 392,724         569,207         

 - Membership subscriptions 11,769           9,120             

 - Other income 187,869         226,642         

 - Sale of publications/merchandise -                 300                

Total Revenue 8,151,200      8,385,044      

b) Expenses

Depreciation expenses 190,008         171,223         

Staff costs 817,756         850,562         

Rental expenses 310,514         292,808         

Accounting fees 16,120           17,122           

Auditor's remuneration

 - Audit 17,000           16,480           

 - Other services 11,748           7,570             

Note 3 : Cash and cash equivalents

Current

Cash at bank and on hand 1,973,707      958,973         

1,973,707      958,973         

Note 4 : Trade and other receivables

Current

Trade receivables 33,396           99,000           

Provision for impairment of receivables -                 -                 

Other receivables 136,873         217,669         

170,269         316,669         

Note 5 : Other current assets

Current

Prepayments 67,980           42,912           

67,980           42,912           

Administration and management fees included in grant 

expenditures comprise the following major expenses:

12
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Note 6 : Financial assets 2014 2013

$ $

Current

Held to maturity investments 7,760,262      9,627,498      

7,760,262      9,627,498      

Note 7 : Property, plant and equipment

Non-Current

Office equipment 684,926         726,889         

Accumulated depreciation (287,523)        (348,706)        

Motor vehicles 267,470         244,770         

Accumulated depreciation (111,426)        (78,326)          

Leasehold improvements 184,224         174,781         

Accumulated depreciation (81,747)          (46,507)          

655,924         672,901         

Movements in carrying amounts

Office 

Equipment

$

Motor 

Vehicles

$

Leasehold 

Improvement

$

Total

$

379,180          197,041          77,250           653,471         

112,567          -                      78,086           190,653         

(113,564)         (30,597)           (27,062)          (171,223)        

378,183          166,444          128,274         672,901         

140,887          22,700            9,444             173,031         

(121,667)         (33,101)           (35,240)          (190,008)        
397,403          156,043          102,478         655,924         

Note 8 : Trade and other payables 2014 2013

$ $

Current

Trade payables 343,716         468,424         

Sundry payables and accrued expenses 298,608         331,768         

Grants received in advance 8 (a) 6,486,683      7,509,788      

7,129,007      8,309,980      

Depreciation expense

Balance at 30 June 2013

Balance at 30 June 2014

Depreciation expense

Balance at 1 July 2012

Additions

Movements in carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the

beginning and the end of the current financial year:

Additions

13
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 8 : Trade and other payables (cont'd) 2014 2013

$ $

8 (a) Grants received in advance comprise the following:

113,361         54,098           

2,982             9,824             

35,871           12,864           

3,933,513      5,521,690      

23,406           31,823           

3,295             3,295             

42,187           42,187           

15,645           6,509             

7,396             3,023             

-                 -                 

64                  43                  

43,131           43,131           

-                 76,886           

769,603         514,179         

-                 127,685         

34,945           50,489           

855,528         660,823         

33,625           77,827           

-                 26,310           

3,751             3,751             

39,681           39,681           

40,000           40,000           

20,000           20,000           

-                 7,227             

951                951                

-                 -                 

612                612                

6,671             6,671             

3,194             3,194             

24                  24                  

37,640           37,640           

5,848             5,848             

NSW Department of Health - Family and Carer Mental Health 

Program

Carers Australia - Carer Recognition Program

Carers Australia - Special Infrastructure Project

NSW Department of Health - Carers Life Course Framework Stage 

2

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Older Parent Carer Tool Kit 

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Carers 

Week Awards

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Speaker 

Sponsorship (Biennial Conference)
Carers Australia - IT Upgrade One-Off

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Young 

Carers Policy

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Carers 

Week

Carers Australia - Promotion of GP After Hours Helpline

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - My Plan My Choice

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Carers 

Support Group (together program)

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - NSW 

Carers Strategy Consultation

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Supported Living Fund

Carers Australia - Carer Engagement Project for 2012 - 2013

Carers Australia - Carer Information Support Service (CISS)

Carers Australia - National Carer Counselling Program (NCCP) 

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Peak 

Funding & Statewide Peak Activities

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Young 

Carers Program

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Older Parent Carer Program

Carers Australia - DSS Young Carers Program

Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and 

Indigenous Affairs - Mental Health Respite

Carers Australia - Better Start for Children with Disability

Carers Australia - Mental Health Carer Counselling

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - HACC 

Carers under 65yrs

Department of Social Services - HACC DSS Carers over 65yrs

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Library Outreach

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Connecting Carers Through IT

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Metro South Project

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Working with Carers Education 

Package

Mental Health One-Off Projects

14
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 8 : Trade and other payables (cont'd) 2014 2013

$ $

8 (a) Grants received in advance comprise the following:

96                  96                  

16,911           16,911           

909                -                 

111,046         -                 

33,145           -                 

190,000         -                 

39,302           39,302           

4,312             312                

-                 2,299             

-                 4,545             

-                 -                 

18,038           18,038           

6,486,683      7,509,788      

Note 9 : Provisions

Current

Provision for annual leave 201,333         177,294         

201,333         177,294         

Non-Current

Provision for long service leave 177,170         132,018         

177,170         132,018         

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Working with Carers Orientation 

Workshops

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Western 

NSW Family & Support

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Hidden 

Carer Outreach project

NSW Department of Health - One Off Carers Life Course 

Framework

NSW Department of Family and Community Services - Young 

Carers Interagency Project

South Eastern Sydney Local Health District - Older Parent Carer 

Program - SE Sydney 'Planning for the future - Carers Week 2013'

South Eastern Sydney Local Health District - Multicultural 

Awareness Posters

North Coast Medicare Local - North Coast Craft Studio Session

Ageing, Disability & Home Care - Metro North Project

Coffs Harbour City Council - Coffs Harbour Carers Day Out 

Macquarie Group Foundation - Ethics of Caring Project

Carers Australia - Drought Assistance Packages
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 10 : Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations

Surplus for the year 120,971         431,501         

Non-cash flows in operating result

  Depreciation 190,008         171,223         

Changes in assets and liabilities

  (Increase) / Decrease in trade and term debtors 146,400         (77,104)          

  (Increase) / Decrease in other assets (25,068)          (6,504)            

   Increase / (Decrease) in payables (1,180,973)     55,629           

   Increase / (Decrease) in provisions 69,191           52,634           

Net cash provided by operating activities (679,471)        627,379         

(b) Non-cash financing and investing activities

Note 11 : Capital and Leasing Commitments

Operating Lease Commitments

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements

Payables - minimum lease payments

 - not later than 12 months 336,807         400,710         

 - between 12 months and five years 114,971         400,901         

 - greater than five years -                 -                 

451,778         801,611         

Note 12 : Bank Guarantee

Note 13 : Events Subsequent to Balance Date

Note 14 : Association details  

Registered office and principal place of business:

Carers New South Wales Incorporated

Level 18, 24 Campbell Street

Sydney NSW 2000

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report

any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of

the association, to affect significantly the operations of the association, the results of those

operations, or the state of affairs of the association, in future financial years.

Westpac Banking Corporation holds a rental guarantee in relation to the association's registered 

office of $83,894.69 (2013: $79,462.64).

The association did not have any non cash financing and investing activities in the financial year. 
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTORS

1.

2.

                                                                                 , Director
Laraine Toms (President)

Sydney, 15th August 2014

                                                                                 , Director
Stephen Bowles (Honorary Treasurer)

Sydney, 15th August 2014

At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Carers New South
Wales Incorporated will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and
on behalf of the Directors by:

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial report as set out on pages 50 to 62:

The Directors have determined that the association is not a reporting entity and that this special
purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies outlined in
Note 1 to the financial statements.

Presents a true and fair view of the financial position of Carers New South Wales Incorporated as
at 30 June 2014 and its performance for the year ended on that date.
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CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

Auditor’s Responsibility 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the

The directors of the association are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report, and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 is appropriate
to meet the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 2009 and is appropriate to meet the
needs of the members. The directors' responsibilities also include such internal control as the
directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We have
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that
we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report being a special purpose financial report, of Carers
New South Wales Incorporated, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June
2014, statement of surplus or deficit and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the statement by members of the board of
directors. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

18

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of Australian
professional ethical pronouncements. 

In our opinion, the financial report of Carers New South Wales Incorporated presents fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Carers New South Wales Incorporated as of 30 June 2014
and of its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance with the accounting policies
described in Note 1 to the financial statements, and the Associations Incorporation Act 2009 .

in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the association's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the association's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the board of directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

Auditor’s Opinion

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
CARERS NEW SOUTH WALES INCORPORATED

FELSERS
Chartered Accountants

Report on the Financial Report (cont'd)

Steven Zabeti
Partner

Basis of Accounting 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the
basis of accounting. The financial report has been prepared to assist Carers New South Wales
Incorporated to meet the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 2009 . As a result, the
financial report may not be suitable for another purpose.

19

Sydney, 15th August 2014
Partner
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CONTACT DETAILS

LOCATION OF CARERS NSW OFFICES

Sydney
Level 18, 24 Campbell Street
Sydney NSW 2000
T 02 9280 4744
F 02 9280 4755

Dubbo
6/46 Wingewarra Street
Dubbo NSW 2830
T 02 6884 7200
F 02 6881 6080

Coffs Harbour
2/2 Lyster Street
Coffs Harbour NSW 2450
T 02 6650 0512
F 02 6651 5114

Newcastle
Suite 6, 235 Darby St
Cooks Hills NSW 2300
T 02 9289 4280

Tweed Heads
The Family Centre
15-17 Rivendell 
Tweed Heads South NSW 2486
T 07 5524 8711

 

ABN 45 461 578 851
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